Court of Appeals No. 43358-3-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

#### COREY DUAWAYN YOUNG,

Defendant/Appellant.

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County, Cause No. 08-1-03121-9 The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Presiding Judge

> Sheri Arnold, WSBA No. 18760 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 7718 Tacoma, Washington 98417 (253) 683-1124

#

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Court abused its discretion in finding that the robbery and kidnapping did not constitute the same criminal conduct.
- 2. Based upon the incidental restraint doctrine, there was insufficient evidence to support a kidnapping conviction.
- 3. The trial court incorrectly calculated Mr. Young's sentence.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Young had a different criminal intent regarding the restraint and movement of Mr. Yang during the robbery. (Assignment of Error No. 1 and 2)
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that the robbery was complete when Mr. Young pointed a gun at Mr. Yang and took his wallet. (Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2)
- 3. The State presented insufficient evidence to support a finding that Mr. Young was guilty of kidnapping where the restraint of Mr. Yang was incidental to the robbery. (Assignment of Error No. 2)
- 4. The trial court erred in calculating Mr. Young's sentence by counting kidnapping as a separate crime from robbery. (Assignment of Error No. 3)

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A. Factual Background

On November 19, 2011, Mua Yang was sitting in his car in the parking lot of his apartment when he saw Corey Young and co-defendant Jerro Dagraca jump over the fence and approach his car. 3/27/12 -

3/28/12 RP 114.<sup>1</sup> Mr. Yang stepped outside his car, then Mr. Young pointed a gun at him (RP 114, lines 20-25) and said, "Give me all your money; give me anything you got." RP 115, lines 13-14. Mr. Yang testified that he handed \$117 to Mr. Young, and then Mr. DaGraca asked Mr. Young to search Mr. Yang's pockets for credit cards. RP 116, lines 2-25; RP 117, lines 1-4. Mr. Yang had no credit cards, but Mr. Young found an "EBT" card for food stamps in Mr. Yang's pocket. RP 117, lines 5-13. Mr. Yang explained at trial that the EBT card looks like a credit card but is "just like a debit card." RP 117, lines 14-24. Both men then searched Mr. Yang's pockets, finding and returning his military I.D. card. RP 118, lines 4-14.

Mr. Yang testified that the two men told him "that the card must have money, and I said it don't have money; it's a food stamp card." RP 118, lines 19-22. The defendants than asked Mr. Yang for the "PIN number," so he made up a PIN number, and one of the defendants "punch[ed] that number into his phone," then told Mr. Yang, "It's not working; you're lying." RP 119, lines 1-9. At that point, one of the defendants said, "Let's go to 7-Eleven to get food and money. If you don't get money for us, you're dead." RP 119, lines 18-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The transcript of the proceedings is not numbered continuously between the volumes containing trial and sentencing. Reference to the sentencing hearing will be made by giving the date of the proceedings, followed by the page numbers.

Mr. Yang testified that the defendants "pulled [him] back in the car," and Mr. Young kept the gun pointed at him while he drove for "about five, seven minutes" (RP 121, lines 4-5) to a 7-Eleven as directed by the defendants. RP 119, lines 21-25; RP 120, lines 1-3.

Shortly before 2:00 a.m. on November 19, 2012, several police officers were gathered in the parking lot of the 7-Eleven store located in the 9900 block of Gravelly Lake Drive in Lakewood. CP 5. As they stood there, Mr. Yang pulled into the parking lot "so quickly that one of the officers thought the victim was going to strike one of the patrol vehicles." *Id.* Mr. Yang rolled down his window and yelled that "the two passengers in the vehicle were robbing him and that they had guns." *Id.* "As the victim was reporting that he was being robbed, the two passengers, Defendant Dagraca and Defendant Young exited the vehicle and fled." *Id.* 

Police gave chase on foot, and took both defendants into custody. *Id.* 

#### B. Procedural Background

Mr. Young was charged with kidnapping in the first degree while armed with a firearm, robbery in the first degree while armed with a firearm, and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 3-4. He was found guilty of all crimes, and the jury found that he had been

-3-

armed with a firearm during the kidnapping and the robbery. CP 70-74.

Mr. Young argued that the merger doctrine applied to the kidnapping and robbery and that the two crimes constituted the same criminal conduct for scoring purposes. CP 102-106; 4/17/12 RP, page 10, lines 13-25; page 11, line 1 - page 18, line 8.

Mr. Young also argued that three of his prior juvenile convictions (burglary in the second degree, theft in the first degree, and malicious mischief in the first degree (4/17/12 RP, page 16, line 2-25; page 17, lines 1-17; page 18, lines 1-8), encompassed the same course of conduct. CP 107-109. The trial court agreed that the three juvenile crimes were the same criminal conduct. 4/23/12 RP, page 5, lines 15-25.

The trial court ruled:

With respect to merger and same criminal conduct under 9.94A.589, as I said in my brief e-mail, merge[r] just simply doesn't apply here. What we have here, unfortunately, is two separate -- related, but separate independent crimes.

The Robbery in the First Degree was committed [when] the people stuck the gun in Mr. Yang's face and took his wallet. They then formed the intent to try to get some more money from him and formed the intent to abduct him at gunpoint in his car. That is a separate crime, a separate harm, a separate harm for Mr. Yang. The harm being the fear of the removal during the kidnapping. They threatened to shoot him and dump his body in a lake, as I recall. Whether that was serious or not, I don't know. Whether this was just idiotic behavior by two young men who lack some internal controls and impulse control, I don't know. It resulted in some serious charges here.

Merger, I think, doesn't apply. It's not the same criminal conduct. It is two separate crimes. They have to be scored separately. That's my decision on that.

4/23/12 RP, page 4, lines 17-25; page 5, lines 1-13.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. There was insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Young of kidnapping because the incidental restraint doctrine applies in this case.

1. <u>The robbery was not complete until Mr. Young</u> attempted to escape the police at the 7-Eleven.

The trial court erroneously found that the robbery of Mr. Yang was completed at the time the defendants "stuck the gun in Mr. Yang's face and took his wallet." 4/23/12 RP, page 4, lines 22-24. As a matter of law, the robbery was ongoing until the defendants attempted to escape from the 7-Eleven lot.

Mr. Yang's testimony establishes that the defendants abducted him for the sole purpose of continuing the robbery that was initiated by taking Mr. Yang's cash and "EBT" food stamp card. When the defendants "found the victim's Quest Card" as they searched his pockets in his apartment parking lot, they "told the victim that they wanted money that was in his Quest account." CP 6. The robbery was not complete when the defendants took Mr. Yang's cash and Quest card, but continued as they forced Mr. Yang to drive at gunpoint to the 7-Eleven to obtain money by use of the Quest card. *State v. Manchester*, 57 Wn. App. 765, 770, 790 P.2d 217 (1990) ("robbery is not complete until the assailant has effected his escape"), *review denied*, 115 Wn.2d 1019, 802 P.2d 126 (1990); *State v. Handburgh*, 119 Wn.2d 284, 288-293, 830 P.2d 641 (1992) (force or fear used either to obtain or retain possession of property constitutes robbery); *State v. Truong*, 168 Wn. App. 529, \_\_\_\_, 277 P.3d 74, 77 (2012) ("The taking is ongoing until the assailant has effected an escape.").

#### 2. <u>The kidnapping was incidental to the robbery</u>.

In *State v. Elmore*, 154 Wn. App. 885, 901, 228 P.3d 760 (2010), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1018, 238 P.3d 502 (2010), this Court acknowledged the "incidental restraint doctrine," which is a rule "rooted in merger doctrine," under which "[e]vidence of restraint that is merely incidental to the commission of another crime is insufficient to support a kidnapping conviction." *See also State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 227, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) ("the mere incidental restraint and movement of a victim which might occur during the course of a [crime] are not, standing alone, indicia of a true kidnapping").

In this case, the restraint and movement of Mr. Yang from his apartment parking lot to the 7-Eleven lot occurred during the course of the robbery and was merely incidental thereto.

# 3. <u>The restraint of Mr. Yang was incidental to the ongoing armed robbery</u>.

Mr. Yang was under no greater danger during the five-minute drive to the 7-Eleven than he had been when Mr. Young first approached him in the apartment parking lot and pointed a gun at him, demanding money. At the sentencing hearing, the court stated that it did not believe the threat made to kill Mr. Yang and dump him in a lake was a serious threat. Instead, noted the court, Mr. Young was "just trying to scare him so [he] could get some more money from the ATM machine." 4/13/12 RP at page 25. The restraint was for the sole purpose of facilitating the robbery, and the restraint did not create any danger independent of the danger posed by the armed robbery itself. As noted by the *Elmore* Court, "forcible restraint is inherent in armed robberies." *Elmore*, 154 Wn. App. at 902, 228 P.3d 760.

In this case, Mr. Yang was not injured in any "separate and distinct manner" while he drove from one location where Mr. Young took property from him to another location where Mr. Young's intent was to take more property from him. Movement from the parking lot of Mr. Yang's apartment to the 7-Eleven was merely incidental to the robbery. The force used to take Mr. Yang's cash and EBT card continued unchanged as he drove to the 7-Eleven.

In Elmore, the crimes committed were kidnapping, burglary, and felony murder predicated on burglary. Elmore argued that the kidnapping restraint was incidental to the burglary, but the Court noted that the burglary was completed upon entry into the victim's residence with intent to commit a crime therein. Elmore, 154 Wn. App. at 902, 228 P.3d 760. In contrast, a robbery is an ongoing crime that is not complete until the perpetrator escapes. The robbery of Mr. Yang was ongoing until Mr. Young attempted to escape from the police at the 7-Eleven parking lot, and the restraint and movement of Mr. Yang was merely incidental to the robbery. The distance of the movement "is but one factor to be considered" when evaluating the nature of the restraint." State v. Saunders, 120 Wn. App. 800, 817, 86 P.3d 242 (2004), review denied, 156 Wn.2d 1034, 137 P.3d 864 (2006) (quoting State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 227, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)).

This Court should find that because the incidental restraint doctrine applies, there is insufficient evidence to support a kidnapping conviction. *See Elmore*, 154 Wn. App. at 901, 228 P.3d 760 ("[e]vidence of restraint that is merely incidental to the commission of another crime is insufficient to support a kidnapping conviction") (citing *Saunders*, 120 Wn. App. at 817-818, 86 P.3d 232). The kidnapping conviction should be vacated.

# B. The trial court abused its discretion in not finding the kidnapping was part of the same criminal conduct as the robbery.

"Same criminal conduct' means the crimes require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

In deciding whether two crimes encompassed the same criminal conduct, "trial courts should focus on the extent to which the criminal intent, as objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next." *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987). "[P]art of this analysis will often include the related issues of whether one crime furthered the other and if the time and place of the two crimes remained the same." *Id.* The trial court's determination of what constitutes the same criminal conduct is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. French*, 157 Wn. 2d 593, 613, 141 P.3d 54 (2006).

A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is "manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." *Grandmaster Sheng-Yen Lu v. King County*, 110 Wn.App. 92, 99, 38 P.3d 1040 (2002). A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. *Grandmaster Cheng-Yen Lu*, 110 Wn.App. at 99, 38 P.3d 1040.

In this case, the trial court erroneously described the robbery as being complete when the defendants "stuck the gun in Mr. Yang's face and took his wallet." 4/23/12 RP, page 4, lines 22-24. The court found that following the robbery, Mr. Young formed a new intent "to try to get more money from him" and another separate "intent to abduct" Mr. Yang "at gunpoint in his car." 4/23/12 RP at page 4, lines 24-25; page 5, line 1.

In *Dunaway*, the defendant was charged with two counts of first degree kidnapping and two counts of first degree robbery, and stated in his plea of guilty:

On March 3, 1986, I went to the Alderwood Mall. I got into a car where Ora Buck and Grace Johnson were present. I showed them the gun and, under threat, asked them to drive toward Seattle. I told them to give me the cash that they had on them. I took some money from each. When we got to Seattle, I told one of the women to go inside the Rainier bank in the University District and to get some more money for me. When she did not return for some time, I told the other Lady to move over and let me drive. We drove to somewhere in Seattle and I got out of the car.

Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d at 211-212, 743 P.2d 1237.

The sentencing judge found that all four crimes encompassed the same criminal conduct, and the State appealed. The Supreme Court first clarified that convictions for crimes involving multiple victims must be treated separately, overruling one portion of *State v. Edwards*, 45 Wn. App. 378, 725 P.2d 442 (1986). *Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d at 215-216, 743 P.2d 1237.

The Court then turned to whether "Dunaway's kidnapping and robbery of a single victim encompassed the same criminal conduct," and found that it did. *Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d at 217, 743 P.2d 1237. The Court found: first, that "it was Dunaway's very intent to commit robbery that enabled the prosecutor to raise the charge from second degree to first degree kidnapping," so "robbery was the objective intent behind both crimes"; second, "the kidnapping furthered the robbery"; and third, "the crimes were committed at the same time and place." *Id. See also State v. Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d 773, 777, 827 P.2d 996 (1992) ("if one crime furthered another, and if the time and place of the crimes remained the same, then the defendant's criminal purpose or intent did not change and the offenses encompass the same criminal conduct.").

This case is like *Dunaway*. The intent of Mr. Young, from the moment he came into contact with Mr. Yang until he fled from the police, was to rob Mr. Yang. That intent did not change merely because Mr. Young forced Mr. Yang to move during the robbery to a different location where Mr. Young anticipated he would take more of Mr. Young's property. The kidnapping was committed during the ongoing robbery, and

merely furthered the robbery. The kidnapping and the robbery took place at the same time and place.

The trial court's finding that the kidnapping and robbery were not the same criminal conduct was an abuse of discretion because the finding was outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard. The robbery and the kidnapping had the same criminal intent, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same victim. The trial court's finding that the crimes were not the same criminal conduct was contrary to the legal standard set forth in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

This Court should rule that the kidnapping and the robbery constituted the same criminal conduct, bearing in mind that the robbery was not completed until Mr. Young fled from the police. *Truong*, 168 Wn. App., 529, \_\_\_\_, 277 P.3d 74, 77 ("The taking is ongoing until the assailant has effected an escape.").

This Court should rule that the kidnapping and the robbery constituted the same criminal conduct, and vacate the kidnapping conviction.

# C. The State relied upon misstatements of fact and law in *State v. Larry* to support its sentencing arguments.

It is anticipated that the State will once again rely upon language in *State v. Larry*, 108 Wn. App. 894, 34 P.2d 365 (1999), *review denied*, 146 Wn.2d 1022, 52 P.3d 521 (2002) to argue that the trial court had "discretion to punish kidnapping separately from robbery for sentencing purposes because . . . 'to do other wise would allow a serious crime to go unpunished." CP 134. Should the State make such an argument it would be as incorrect on appeal as it was in the trial court.

In *Larry*, the defendants were charged with kidnapping, robbery, and attempted murder. They argued that "the multiple offenses of robbery and kidnapping should count as one crime for sentencing purposes because they 'require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim.' RCW 9.94A.400(1)(a)." *Larry*, 108 Wn. App. at 915, 34 P.3d 241.

The *Larry* Court relied upon language in *State v. Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d 773, 781, 827 P.2d 996 (1992) to rule that, "Similarly here, the trial court has discretion to punish the kidnapping separately from **robbery** for sentencing purposes because, as in *Lessley*, to do otherwise would allow a serious crime to go unpunished. RCW 9A.52.050; *Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d at 781, 827 P.2d 996." *Larry*, 108 Wn. App. at 917, 34 P.3d 241 (emphasis added). The *Larry* Court continued, "Here, the record does not show that the trial court abused that discretion in treating the

-13-

kidnapping and **burglary** as separate offenses and punishing Varnes and Larry for both crimes." *Id.* Emphasis added. This was a misstatement of the facts of the *Larry* case: the *Larry* defendants were **not** charged with nor were they sentenced for burglary.

The Lessley Court, considering the crimes of kidnapping and

burglary, wrote:

We believe the better approach is to hold the antimerger statute gives the sentencing judge discretion to punish for **burglary, even where it and an additional crime encompass the same criminal conduct.** As the lead Court of Appeals opinion stated:

> When two statutes appear to conflict, every effort should be made to harmonize their respective provisions. Here, that is easily done by recognizing that application of the burglary antimerger statute is discretionary with the sentencing judge and permits punishment for burglary and other crimes simultaneously committed. This result accords with the wellestablished rules that the more specific statute controls over a conflicting, more general statute, and that the Legislature is presumed to be familiar with its prior legislation. In this case, then, the antimerger statute controls over the general language as to "same criminal conduct" when the sentencing judge imposes punishment pursuant to RCW 9A.52.050. Repeals by implication are not favored. If repeal is appropriate, it should be done by the Legislature, not by the courts.

Allowing a sentencing judge discretion to apply the burglary antimerger statute serves the SRA's proportionality function. A defendant who commits multiple crimes after breaking into a home should not be able to escape a more serious offender score. This approach recognizes burglaries involve a breach of privacy and security often deserving of separate consideration for punishment.

*Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d at 781-782, 827 P.2d 996 (quoting *State v. Lessley*, 59 Wn.App. 461, 464–65, 798 P.2d 302 (1990) (emphasis added).

The burglary antimerger statute does **not** apply to robbery, but applies exclusively to burglary. RCW 9A.52.050 ("Every person who, in the commission of a **burglary** shall commit any other crime, may be punished therefor as well as for the **burglary**, and may be prosecuted for each crime separately.") (emphasis added).

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