NO. 43358-3-II (Consolidated)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

JERRO DAGRACA, APPELLANT and COREY YOUNG, APPELLANT (Consolidated)

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Ronald Culpepper

No. 11-1-04678-0 (DaGraca) No. 11-1-04679-8 (Young)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By STEPHEN TRINEN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 30925

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

A. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

- 1. Whether the jurisdictional statute for juvenile court is unconstitutional where it excludes serious violent offenses from juvenile court jurisdiction?
- 2. Whether the separate sentences for robbery and kidnapping did not violate the incidental restraint doctrine where the robbery was completed before the kidnapping was committed, and where the incidental restraint doctrine does not properly exist under Washington law?
- 3. Whether the counts of robbery and kidnapping were not the same criminal conduct where the robbery was completed before the kidnapping was committed?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Procedure

On November 21, 2011, based on an incident that occurred on November 19, 2011, the State filed an information charging Jerro DaGraca with Count I, Robbery in the First Degree; Count II, Kidnapping in the First Degree. CP JD 1-2. Each count included a firearm sentence enhancement. CP JD 1-2. That same day the State also filed an

Information charging Corey Young with: Count I, Robbery in the First Degree; Count II, Kidnapping in the First Degree; and Count III, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. CP CY 3-4. Counts I and II also included a firearm sentence enhancement. CP CY 3-4.

On March 27, 2012, both cases were assigned to the Honorable Judge Ronald Culpepper for trial. CP JD 132 (Criminal Case Reassignment, filed 03-27-12); CP CY 163 (Criminal Case Reassignment, filed 03-27-12). A jury was empaneled on March 27, 2012. CP JD 136; CP CY 167.

The jury returned verdicts finding DaGraca guilty of both counts, however the jury did not reach a finding as to whether DaGraca was armed with a firearm when he committed the crimes. CP JD 55-58; 142. The jury found Young guilty of all three counts, and found that he was armed with a firearm when he committed both Count I, and Count II. CP CY 70-74; 173.

The court sentenced both Young and DaGraca on April 23, 2012.

CP JD 111-123; CP CY139-52; RP CY 04-23-12, p. 4.

¹ The statement of arrangements filed by DaGraca on June 19, 2012 indicates that the VRPs for April 19 and 23 were ordered by DaGraca. See CP JD 143-44. However, the VRPs for those dates were not filed under DaGraca's name or case number. See CP JD 145. The State infers that it was the intent of DaGraca to rely upon the VRP from the April 23, 2012 sentencing generated under Young's name and case number, as that appears to be what he cites to. See DaGraca Br. App. at 2.

For sentencing, DaGraca argued that the robbery and kidnapping counts were the same criminal conduct for purposes of sentencing, while the State argued that they were not. CP JD 89-91; 92-95; 96-105. The court ruled that the two convictions were not the same criminal conduct and sentenced DaGraca to 68 months on Count I, and 72 months on Count II. RP CY 04-23-12, p. 4, ln. 17 to p. 5, ln. 13; p. 17, ln. 13 to p. 18, ln. 4; CP JD 111-123. The court did not enter the total months of confinement on the judgment and sentence, nor did the court specify if the sentences were to be served consecutively or concurrently. CP JD 117; RP CY 04-23-12, p. 17, ln. 13 to p. 18, ln. 4.

For sentencing, Young also argued that the counts I and II were the same course of conduct and additionally that they merged, and that prior offenses in his criminal history were also the same course of conduct. RP 04-17-12; CP CY 101-131. The court ruled that the counts were not the same course of conduct and did not merge, but did hold that Young's prior convictions were the same criminal conduct. RP CY 04-23-12, p. 4, ln. 17 to p. 5, ln. 25; CP CY 145. The court sentenced Young to: Count I, to 87 months plus 60 months for the firearm enhancement (amounting to 147 months total on count I); Count II, 110 months, plus 60 months firearm enhancement (amounting to 170 months total on Count II); and Count III, 54 months. RP CY 04-23-12, p. 26, ln. 10 to p. 27, ln. 15; CP CY 145,

139-152. The court's total period of confinement for Young was 230 months [60 + 60 + 110=230]. CP CY 145.

DaGraca filed a timely notice of appeal on April 23, 2012. CP JD 126. Young timely filed a notice of appeal on April 23, 2012. CP CY 153

This is the State's response to the briefs of appellants.

2. Facts

On November 9, 2011, Officer Michael Wulff was one of six patrol cars that responded to a 7-Eleven store at 100th Street and Gravelly Lake Drive in Lakewood regarding a report of a disturbance that might possibly have involved a DUI. 1RP 18, ln. 9-17.

About 20 minutes into dealing with that call, it was wrapping up when Officer Wulff observed a gray Toyota Camry on Gravelly Lake

Drive turn very quickly onto 100th and come very quickly into the parking lot, straight at the officers, who were in semi-circle. 1RP 18, ln. 22-7.

Officer Wulff could hear noise coming from the car's tires, and the officers thought the driver was going to possibly run into them by the way he was driving. 1RP 19, ln. 6-8. The car came straight at the officers, who stepped back and were getting ready to jump out of the way, but the car came to a quick stop. 1RP 19, ln. 8-13. Officer Wulff observed three people in the car. 1RP 19, ln. 13-14.

The driver's window went down and the driver, an Asian male who looked very distressed, yelled out the window at the officers that he was being robbed by the two males in the car and that they had guns. 1RP 20, ln. 1-9. At that time, the two male passengers both bailed out of the car on the passenger's side and immediately took off running in a southeasterly direction. 1RP 20, ln. 11-15.

Four officers immediately gave chase to the suspects. 1RP 20, ln. 22-23. The fleeing suspects were African American males of medium build, somewhat tall. 1RP 23, ln. 17-18.

Officer Wulff was the slowest of the pursuing officers and fell to the rear of the chase, but was still trying to keep the others in view. 1RP 22, ln. 15-17. The two ran around a hedge line toward the back side of the [Lakewood] Towne Center and hopped a fence. 1RP 22, ln. 18-21; p. 23, ln. 1-3. Officer Wulff lost sight of the two when they ran around the hedge line, and as he came into the Towne Center, he saw that one of the suspects was being taken into custody. 1RP 25, ln. 3-11. The other suspect ran straight into the parking lot where officers coming into the area were able to take him into custody as well. 1RP 25, ln. 11-17. Officer Wulff joined the group of officers who detained the first suspect, and in court was able to identify that suspect as the defendant, DaGraca. 1RP 25, ln. 22 to p. 26, ln. 13.

After placing DaGraca into a patrol car that arrived, they walked back to their own vehicles by retracing their steps to look for anything that had been dropped or left behind. 1RP 26, ln. 23 to p. 27, ln. 3. Doing so, at the spot just after the suspects jumped the fence, the officers found a Washington Redskins football jacket and hat that was consistent with clothing they had seen on one of the suspects during the chase. 1RP 27, ln. 20-25.

Moua Yang was an honorably discharged United States Army Veteran, originally from Laos who had been living in Lakewood Washington for a year. 1RP 110, ln. 23-24; 128, ln. 11-13.

On November 19, 2011 Mr. Yang had gone to Walgreen's to get cough medication, returned to his apartment complex, and was parked and sitting in his car, a silver 2010 Toyota Camry, while he talked to friends overseas. 1RP 112, ln. 16-19; p. 113, ln. 2-6. It was roughly between 12:00 and 1:30 a.m. 1RP 112, ln. 22-25. While he was sitting there he was approached by two men that he identified in court as Young and DaGraca. 1RP 113, ln. 11 to p. 114, ln. 9. DaGraca had previously been identified in court that day as wearing a white shirt with a tie. 1RP 25, ln. 5-13. Mr. Yang identified the defendants as the persons who robbed and kidnapped him. 1RP 112, ln. 19-21; p. 113, ln. 11 to p. 114, ln. 9. Mr.

Yang also identified Young as wearing a black shirt in court and as being the person who pointed the gun at him. 1RP 113, ln. 14-21; p. 114, ln. 20.

Young and DaGraca jumped from the other side of the fence to Mr. Yang's apartment complex, and then both came up to Mr. Yang's car door. 1RP 114, ln. 14-16. Mr. Yang thought they were asking for directions, so he opened the car door and stepped out. 1RP 114, ln. 17-23. Young pointed a gun at Mr. Yang. 1RP 114, ln. 20. DaGraca was very close to Young. 1RP 115, ln. 5-9.

The guy with the gun [Young] told Mr. Yang that, "Today is a bad day," and then told Mr. Yang to give him them all his money and anything else he had. 1RP 115, ln. 9-14. Mr. Yang responded, "I'm a veteran I don't know why you guys are doing this and you should know veterans, we don't have money; we're poor." 1RP 115, ln. 16-18. They asked Mr. Yang for money, which he told them he had, and then gave to them the \$117 he had on him. 1RP 116, ln. 2-11. He did not give them anything else. 1RP 116, ln. 22-23.

Then the person without the gun [DaGraca] asked the guy with the gun [Young] to search Mr. Yang's pocket for credit cards. 1RP 116, ln. 25. They both searched his pockets. 1RP 118, ln. 4-6. Mr. Yang did not have any credit cards, but his wife had a food stamp card that they took. 1RP 117, ln. 5-7. Mr. Yang asked them to give him back his American ID

because it is hard to make up [replace?] the military ID and they did return it. 1RP 118, ln. 9-14.

During all this, the car was still running, so they turned off the car, took out the key and discussed that the card must have money. 1RP 118, ln. 21. Mr. Yang said it didn't have any money, that it was a food stamp card. 1RP 118, ln. 19-22. They told him to give them the PIN number, and he said he didn't know the PIN number and that even if he did know the PIN number, it is only a food stamp card and there was no cash. 1RP 118, ln. 22 to p. 119, ln. 1. Again he was told to give them the PIN number, so he just made up a PIN number for them because he was so scared. 1RP 119, ln. 1-4.

Young pointed the gun at Mr. Yang and acted like he was punching a number into his phone, but he didn't have a screen on his phone because the screen on his phone was broken. 1RP 119, ln. 6-8. After about 30 seconds, he said it wasn't working, that Mr. Yang was lying. 1RP 119, ln. 8-10. DaGraca said Mr. Yang was really scared, and then the guy [Young] hit Mr. Yang in the stomach and put the gun on his stomach and punched him in the face. 1RP 119, ln. 9-12. Mr. Yang said that they didn't have to do that because all they need is just money, so he would give them all the money. 1RP 119, ln. 13-14. He said they were

young and had a long time to go and don't need to do this. 1RP 119, ln. 14-16.

Young put the gun at him and said, "Disgusting," and then said, "Let's go to 7-Eleven to get food and money. If you don't get money for us, you're dead." 1RP 119, ln. 17-20. Then they pulled him back into the driver's seat so he could drive and the guy with the gun pointed the gun at him the whole time. 1RP 119, ln. 21-23. Young, with the gun, was seated in the front passenger seat, and DaGraca was in the back seat of the car. 1RP 120, ln. 3-5.

They pointed in a direction for him to go for the 7-Eleven. 1RP 120, ln. 11-12. There was a 7-11 right in front of the apartment complex, so Mr. Yang thought they wanted him to go there. 1RP 120, ln. 13-15. Mr. Yang thought he would have a chance to approach people, but the two men were smart and didn't let him go there. 1RP 120, ln. 15-17. Instead, when they got to the parking lot, they pointed him in the direction of another 7-Eleven, and gave him directions on how to get there. 1RP 120, ln. 17-19; p. 120, ln. 1-3. It took about five to seven minutes to get there. 1RP 121, ln. 4-5. During that time, they talked to each other about once Mr. Yang got the money, they were going to kill him and put him in the lake so they could have his car and do whatever party they wanted to do. 1RP 121, ln. 6-12.

As they pointed the direction they wanted him to go, he came to the 7-Eleven. 1RP 121, ln. 20-22. There weren't many ways to turn around and luckily for Mr. Yang, there were seven or eight police cars in that 7-Eleven. 1RP 121, ln. 22-24.

So they told him to go on, and Young put the gun tight at Mr. Yang's body and said to go right and keep it straight, and if he didn't, he was going to shoot Mr. Yang. 1RP 122, ln. 1-5. Mr. Yang told him not to worry and that he was going to do exactly what they said. 1RP 122, ln. 5-7. Then he kept hollering at Mr. Yang and had the gun at him, but Mr. Yang figured he was going to die anyway if he went with them, so he just took his chance, drove into the 7-Eleven and went straight to the police that were standing in the parking lot. 1RP 122, ln. 7-13.

Mr. Yang got out of the car right away, and hollered at the police that he needed help, that the two guys had a weapon, and were trying to kill him for money. 1RP 122, ln. 15-22. The minute he got out, he saw the two guys running too. 1RP 122, ln. 17-18.

After the two were caught, Mr. Yang was able to identify them when they were detained in a police vehicle. 1RP 123, ln. 1-7.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. RCW 13.04.030 IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

DaGraca claims that RCW 13.04.030 is unconstitutional. DaGraca Br. App. at 7ff. That statute defines the proceedings over which juvenile court shall have jurisdiction, including several exceptions that exclude certain offenses from juvenile court jurisdiction.

As a preliminary matter it should be noted that DaGraca refers to RCW 13.04.030(1)(e) as the "automatic decline statute." That phrase is inaccurate and misplaced insofar as it occurs nowhere in the statute and inaccurately describes the manner in which the statute operates. This point is important because language matters, and the use of inaccurate language can lead to misunderstanding and misinterpretation of the law.

RCW 13.04.030 establishes the jurisdiction of the juvenile court. The basic structure of the statute is that juvenile court shall have exclusive jurisdiction over all juvenile matters in five subject areas. *See* RCW 13.04.030(1)(a)-(e). Subsection (e) gives the juvenile court exclusive jurisdiction over all proceedings "[r]elating to juveniles alleged or found to have committed offenses, traffic or civil infractions..." or other violations, but then also includes a number of exceptions to the juvenile court's jurisdiction. *See* RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(i)-(v).

One exception to juvenile court jurisdiction is that the juvenile court may, at its discretion, transfer jurisdiction to the adult superior court pursuant to RCW 13.40.110. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(i). The court may set a decline hearing on its own motion, or on the motion of either party. RCW 13.40.110(1). The court must set a decline hearing, if the juvenile is age 16 or 17 and is alleged to have committed one set of crimes, or is age 17 and alleged to have committed another set of crimes. RCW 13.40.110(2). After a decline hearing, the court may order the matter transferred to adult superior court if the court finds that doing so is in the interest of the juvenile, or in the interest of the public. RCW 13.40.110(3).

Another, separate set of exceptions to juvenile court jurisdiction exist where the juvenile is sixteen or seventeen years old on the date of the offense and is alleged to have committed a serious violent offense; a violent offense with specified levels of prior criminal history; robbery in the first degree, rape of a child in the first degree, or drive-by shooting; burglary in the first degree with prior criminal history; or any violent offense where the juvenile is alleged to have been armed with a firearm.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A)-(E). In such cases, the adult court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction. RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(E)(I).

Importantly, the juvenile court simply lacks jurisdiction over matters that fall under the exceptions specified under RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v). Under

the plain language of this provision, the juvenile court does not "decline" jurisdiction. Rather, the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction in the first place. Thus, it is not an "automatic decline" statute. Rather, the court simply lacks jurisdiction. DaGraca falls under this provision where he was 17 years of age, i.e. one month and two days short of his eighteenth birthday, when he committed the crimes of robbery in the first degree and kidnapping in the first degree [a serious violent offense].²

Early criminal law did not differentiate between adults and minors who reached the age of criminal responsibility. 14 Am. Jur Trials 619, §

4. However, there was a social trend toward more merciful and rehabilitative methods for handling juveniles, so that the first juvenile court was created in Illinois in 1899. 14 Am. Jur. Trials 619, § 4.

Washington adopted its first juvenile court legislation in 1905, and from 1913 until 1977 Washington's legislation remained largely unchanged.

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